1948

Roy D. Thatcher, LeRoy B. Young and Paul
Thatcher, Thatcher & Young v. Industrial
Commission of Utah and Bernice Y. Rosenbaum :
Brief of Plaintiffs

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiffs are and at all times herein mentioned were attorneys at law duly licensed by this court to practice their profession throughout the State of Utah.

In February, 1946 one Morris Dewayne Rosenbaum died of injuries resulting from an accident occurring in the course of his employment by one H. Fay Sholty. Shortly thereafter his widow filed with the Industrial Commission an application in her own behalf and in that

of her minor daughters, claiming workmen's compensation as provided by law. At that time the widow was advised by a member of the Industrial Commission that it would not be necessary for her to retain counsel to represent her at the hearing upon her application, but that the Commission would give her a fair hearing and make such order as she was entitled to without the expense of counsel. However, upon the hearing, the Industrial Commission found that the decedent was not the employee of Sholty, and entered an order denying any compensation.

The widow thereupon consulted with the plaintiffs herein. At that time she had no money to pay them a fee. It was recognized that to obtain a reversal of the Industrial Commission's order in view of the record made at the hearing and the presumptions in favor of the correctness of the Commission's order would be a very difficult legal task requiring a high degree of legal skill, and that any fee to be paid plaintiffs for their services would have to be contingent upon the successful performance of this task. Accordingly the widow retained the plaintiffs as her attorneys to obtain a review of the decision of the Commission upon a reasonable fee to be agreed upon and paid them only in the event that plaintiffs' efforts in behalf of the claimants should result in the making of an award of workmen's compensation to the widow and children of the decedent.

The plaintiffs, as attorneys for the dependants of the decedent, filed before the Industrial Commission their application for rehearing, which was denied. Plaintiffs then briefed very carefully all the questions

involved and procured the issuance in due course of a writ of certiorari to the Industrial Commission for the review of its order denying compensation, and after further careful briefing wrote and submitted their brief, read the brief of the respondents and the authorities cited therein, and argued the case before the Supreme Court in Salt Lake City. The Supreme Court, in a divided opinion, set aside the order of the Industrial Commission denying compensation. *Rosenbaum v. Industrial Commission, Utah*, 185 Pac. 2d 511. Thereupon the respondents in that case filed a brief arguing that the matter should be reheard, but failed to file any petition for rehearing.

After briefing the question involved in the respondents' failure to file a petition with their brief, the plaintiffs herein, as counsel for the widow, filed a motion for the issuance of a remittitur. Thereupon the respondents in that case filed a motion to be relieved of their default and sought leave to file the petition for rehearing. Both motions were argued before the court in chambers and submitted, and the motion of the widow was denied and the motion of the respondents therein was granted and an order made allowing them to file their petition for rehearing. The brief on the application for rehearing was then read and studied by the plaintiffs and a reply brief prepared and filed. The petition for rehearing was denied by the court. The various proceedings are outlined in some detail in the petition for the writ in this case.

Thereafter the plaintiffs and their client discussed the matter of a fee and it was agreed between them that One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00) was a reasonable con-

tigent fee to be paid them for their successful services and plaintiffs' client agreed to pay that fee. This agreement was reported by letter to the Industrial Commission upon the request of the chairman. In the meantime the remittitur had issued from the Supreme Court, and based upon the Court's ruling and the facts in the case, the Commission vacated its previous order denying compensation and entered an order awarding to the dependents of the decedent compensation totaling Seven Thousand Two Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$7,250.00). At the same time the Commission entered an order fixing the fees of plaintiffs for their services to their clients at Three Hundred Seventy Five Dollars (375.00) and directing that that sum be paid to them directly out of the compensation awarded. (R. 75.)

No notice was given to plaintiffs that their contract with their client was to be set aside and the fee reduced, and no opportunity was given them to be heard upon the issues involved in such order or to present evidence in support of their contract, nor did the Commission hear any competent evidence regarding such fee as a basis for its order in respect thereto. All these things appear from the record certified to this court.

Thereupon the plaintiffs herein filed with the Industrial Commission their application for a rehearing and the application was denied, and the application for the writ of review herein followed in due course.

The plaintiffs' client still remains ready, willing and anxious to pay to plaintiffs the One Thousand Dollar (\$1,000.00) fee agreed upon.

In this connection and before proceeding further, we desire to advise the court that at the time the application for a rehearing was filed herein and again at the time the writ was issued by this court, the plaintiffs advised their client Mrs. Rosenbaum that insofar as the matter of the fee was concerned, she was an adverse party to the plaintiffs herein and that we could not advise her but that she was entitled to and should seek other counsel and that she was perfectly free to oppose any attempt to set aside or revise the order of the Commission respecting the fees of the plaintiffs for legal services rendered to her. She, however, felt that she had made a reasonable bargain and she wanted to perform it, and joined in the application to the Industrial Commission for a rehearing. We have not been advised whether she has in fact consulted other counsel since the writ was issued in this case.

STATEMENT OF ERRORS

The plaintiffs assign and rely upon the following errors committed by the Industrial Commission for a reversal of the order of the Commission fixing plaintiffs' fees for legal services rendered their client at Three Hundred Seventy Five Dollars (375.00):

1. The Industrial Commission erred and acted in excess of its jurisdiction in entering its order of January 29, 1948 fixing the attorneys' fees of plaintiffs herein.

2. The Industrial Commission erred and acted arbitrarily and capriciously and in excess of its jurisdiction in fixing the attorneys' fees of plaintiffs herein at a sum less than the amount plaintiffs' client had agreed to pay without first giving plaintiffs notice, and

an opportunity to be heard and to present evidence upon issues fairly drawn, and without hearing or taking any evidence upon which to base its order fixing such fees.

3. The Industrial Commission erred and acted arbitrarily and capriciously in fixing plaintiffs' fees at Three Hundred Seventy Five Dollars (\$375.00) and in failing to approve plaintiffs' contract for fees to be paid in the sum of One Thousand Dollars (1,000.00).

4. The Industrial Commission erred and acted arbitrarily and capriciously in denying plaintiffs' application for rehearing of the matter of the Commission's order respecting attorneys' fees.

ARGUMENT

Our first three assignments of error address themselves, in order, to the following three propositions:

1. Section 42-1-81 U.C.A., 1943, purporting to authorize the Commission to regulate and fix attorneys' fees is unconstitutional and void as an unwarranted legislative and executive interference with the judicial branch of the government in violation of Article V, Section 1 of the Constitution of Utah.

2. Said Section and the orders of the Commission thereunder are also unconstitutional and void because the statute authorizes the Commission to regulate and fix, and the Commission has in fact reduced and fixed the fees of attorneys, and particularly the plaintiffs, for their services without notice or opportunity to be heard or to present evidence in an orderly proceeding, thus depriving plaintiffs of property without due process of law and denying equal protection of the law in violation

of Section 1, Amendment XIV of the Constitution of the United States and Article I, Section 7 of the Constitution of Utah.

3. Even if the statute is valid, still the Commission, under the facts, acted so arbitrarily, capriciously and unreasonably in refusing to approve the agreed fee of \$1,000, and in fixing such fees at the unreasonably low sum of \$375 that it has abused its discretion, and this court will correct that abuse.

Our fourth assignment of course embraces the first three, for if the commission erred in any one of the three points first assigned, it erred in failing to grant a rehearing to correct those errors. These matters will be discussed in order.

Point 1. The Commission is without jurisdiction to fix plaintiffs' fees because the statute purporting to grant that jurisdiction is a void attempt of the legislature to authorize an executive commission to invade the judicial prerogative by regulating the conduct of attorneys as officers of the court.

So far as we have been able to ascertain this is the first time this question has been raised here or in any other state having a statute similar to our section 42-1-81, U.C.A., 1943. Apparently no constitutional question was submitted to or considered by this court in *Ellis vs. Industrial Commission*, 91 Utah 432, 64 Pac. 2d 363 or *In re Hatch*, 108 Utah 446, 160 Pac. 2d 961, the two previous cases in which the statute has been involved.

Article V, Section 1 of the Constitution of Utah provides that

“The powers of the government of the State of Utah shall be divided into three distinct departments, the Legislative, the Executive, and the Judicial; and no person charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of these departments, shall exercise any functions appertaining to either of the others, except in the cases herein expressly directed or permitted.”

The Industrial Commission, of course, is a creature of the legislature, an executive or administrative body without power to perform judicial acts or to exercise judicial functions.

Logan City vs. Industrial Commission,
85 U. 131, 38 Pac. 2d 769

Attorneys, including the plaintiffs herein, are officers of the court—of the judicial branch of the government of Utah.

This Court, in the case of

Ruckenbrod vs. Mullins,
102 Utah 548, 133 Pac. 2d 325,
144 A.L.R. 839,

in its most illuminating opinion, reviewed the history of the development of the judiciary as an independent branch of government and of the role of the attorney in the judicial system. As the Court there says “Today our judicial procedure is such that the attorney is indispensable.” The right to counsel in litigation is granted by Article I, Section 11, of our State Constitution. Only the most general knowledge of our established procedure is necessary to arrive at the inescapable conclusion that the office of the attorney plays an integral and absolutely essential, an “indispensable”

role in the administration of justice by the judiciary of Utah. Without the attorney the wheels of justice would become clogged and would grind to a stop.

It follows that any action which militates against the free and effective functioning of the attorney in the discharge of the duties of his office strikes at the roots of the judicial system itself. For this reason if for no other, it is the general rule that the admission of attorneys to the bar, the regulation of their professional conduct, and their discipline and disbarment are judicial functions and powers which are inherent in the Court. As this Court said in *Ruckenbrod v. Mullins*, supra, "To properly function it is necessary that courts retain control of their officers."

As the Court recognized in its opinion in the *Ruckenbrod* case, the legislature may make reasonable regulations *in aid* of the power of the courts to control their attorney-officers but the ultimate power must be and is inherently in the courts. This rule has the widest acceptance. Its application is well stated by the *Annotation* in an extensive note dealing with admissions to the bar (144 A.L.R. 150) as follows:

"Under most constitutions the sounder and better supported doctrine seems to be that, in the exercise of its police power, in the interest and for the protection of the general public, a legislature may, with entire validity, *reasonably* regulate admissions to the bar, but that any statutory provision which, *as put into effect, involves interference with, or frustration of the courts in the performance of their duties and functions cannot be regarded as valid.*" (Italics added)

That is the effect of the rule announced by this court for this state in the case of

In re Platz
42 Utah 439, 132 Pac. 390, 392,

which was quoted with approval in the Ruckenbrod case.
See also

In re Unification of Montana Bar Association,
87 Pac. 2d 172.

An excellent headnote by Carter, J., of the Nebraska Supreme Court, in the case

In re Integration of Nebraska State
Bar Association,
133 Neb. 283, 275 N.W. 265, 114 A.L.R. 151,

reads

“The Supreme Court has the inherent power to regulate the conduct and qualifications of attorneys as officers of the court. The proper administration of justice is the main business of a court, and whatever obstructs or embarrasses its chief function must naturally be under its control. The practice of law is so intimately connected and bound up with the exercise of judicial power in the administration of justice that the right to define and regulate its practice naturally and logically belongs to the judicial department of our state government.”

In a very well considered case the Nebraska Court has also held that, in absence of express grant by the Constitution to the legislature, the power to regulate the practice of law is vested in the courts, and that consequently a statute providing that any Nebraska

law school should be deemed "approved" so that its graduates are entitled to take the bar examination is unconstitutional and void as an unwarranted encroachment upon the judicial prerogative. See

State ex rel. Ralston v. Turner
4 N.W. 2d 302, 144 A. L. R. 138

See also the case of

In re Fletcher
107 F. 2d 666, 668, cert. den. 309 U.S. 664,

in which the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia says

"It is held by the great weight of authority that it is within the inherent power of courts of general jurisdiction to define and regulate the practice of law and that this power includes the control of practice not only in the court, but also outside. See Opinion of the Justices, 1935, 289 Mass. 607, 194 N.E. 313; Judd v. City Trust & Savings Bank, 1937, 133 Ohio St. 81, 12 N.E. 2d 288; Rhode Island Bar Association v. Automobile Service Association, 1935, 55 R. I. 122, 179 A. 139, 100 A. L. R. 226; In re Morse, 1924, 98 Vt. 85, 126 A. 550, 36 A.L.R. 527."

In this case a disbarred attorney was held guilty of contempt for sending a letter representing that he was authorized to practice law.

The Supreme Court of Louisiana has considered these principles in its very well reasoned opinion in the case of

Meunier v. Bernich
170 So. 567.

That was an action by a "claim adjuster" upon a written contract solicited by the plaintiff whereby he engaged to investigate, adjust and collect defendant's claim for the negligent death of their child for one-third of the proceeds, under a statute specifically authorizing a lay person to perform such services provided he does so without resort to court proceedings. It was held that such services constitute unauthorized practice of law, that regulation of the practice of law is an exclusively judicial function, and that the statute was unconstitutional as an impingement on the exclusive prerogative of the judicial branch under the section of the Constitution dividing the government into three branches. The contract for employment was therefore illegal and void. The Court's reasoning is so well stated we feel constrained to quote at some length from the opinion.

The Court says:

"Due to the fact that courts are not empowered to enact laws, the jurisprudence has approved legislation passed in aid of the courts' inherent powers. But, while such statutes, in aid of the courts' powers will be sanctioned, by the same token, the courts disapprove and render valueless any legislation, which has the effect of divesting or stripping its inherent powers . . .

"It is therefore manifest that the Supreme Court not only possesses the inherent power to prescribe the ultimate qualifications for those who wish to engage in the practice of law, but this prerogative necessarily includes the regulation of the law practice. The legislature may aid, by the passage of statutes, the exertion of judicial power subject to the approval of the court. And, albeit,

while the Legislature may enact laws to aid the courts in the protection of its inherent power, the courts will suppress and disapprove statutes, such as the exception contained in section 2, . . . which frustrate and stultify that implied judicial authority . . .

“Under the Constitution, the Supreme Court is given express power to regulate the conduct of the members of the bar. When the legislature passes a statute which attempts to define the practice of law, it directly impinges upon the constitutional grant of power bestowed upon the courts respecting the regulation of the conduct of the members of the legal profession.

“If a lawyer solicits business, as Meunier has done in this case, he can be brought before the Supreme Court and tried for his misconduct in office. Meunier, however, acting in his capacity as an adjuster, . . . is, by authority of the exception, privileged to do all things that a qualified lawyer might do in the practice of law, save appearance in Court, without being subject to the discipline of or regulation by the court and wholly unrestrained by any consideration of the ethical standards of the profession. This type of statute has the effect of nullifying the power vested in the Supreme Court to punish those persons, who engage in the practice of law without a license . . .

“It is a matter of common knowledge that attorneys customarily handling damage suits do so on a contingent fee basis. The fee of the attorney is fixed on a percentage of the amount recovered in court and in almost all cases, the percentage of the attorney’s interest in the outcome of the litigation is higher than that received by him in

other cases because he is not compensated for his services in the event he fails to obtain a judgment."

"The rendering of legal services before an administrative tribunal, such as the Industrial Commission, is the practice of law, and the power of the courts to discipline and control attorneys extends to the field of such practice. Neither the legislature nor the administrative body which it has created has any power to authorize persons not duly licensed by the courts as attorneys at law to engage in such practice.

People ex rel. Chicago Bar Ass'n
v. Goodman (Ill., 1937)
8 N.E. 2d 941, 111 A.L.R. 1.

It would seem obvious that if attorneys are officers of the judicial branch of the government, and absolutely essential to the discharge of the functions of that branch, and subject to regulation and control by the courts in the performance of their official duties, they must be free from hampering and frustrating control by the other branches of government. If they are not, the effective function of the courts becomes subject to the arbitrary whim of the legislature or the executive. This becomes apparent if we assume an extreme case. Suppose the legislature were to enact a statute forbidding any attorney to charge more than \$10.00 for services before any court in any one case. Although attorneys are public officers serving in the judicial branch of government, they are not paid any compensation out of the public funds. (See the Ruckenbrod case, *supra*!) Neither does the legislature provide for them office space or pay other expenses incident to their office. Attorneys are entirely dependent upon the fees paid them by their clients for

legal services rendered. If they are forbidden to receive fair and adequate fees for legal services rendered they can neither maintain themselves (Attorneys, also, eat.) nor perform their functions before the courts. Moreover, some attorneys, as other human beings, if prevented from receiving a fair return for their services, thus being subjected to economic stress, will be tempted always to amplify their incomes through improper procedures, bringing the entire administration of justice into disrepute and materially impairing the prestige and effectiveness of the courts. An apt illustration may be found in the Utah Bar's unfortunate experience.

In re Hatch,
108 Utah 446, 160 Pac. 2d 961.

Furthermore, as the earning capacity of, and public respect for attorneys is lowered, the bar attracts fewer and fewer men of ability and energy, and the functioning of the judicial branch of government is further hindered and impaired.

And if, as here, a reasonable return for services is prevented only in one field of legal practice, that field tends to be neglected by capable and conscientious attorneys, until as a general rule, only the relatively incompetent practitioner, or the practitioner who refuses "to deliver more than he is paid for" will accept employment in that field. Some very capable young men, newly called to the bar, will occasionally practice in that field during their "starvation period," but ordinarily they withdraw as soon as they are able.

Such is the case with workmen's compensation in Utah. We believe it is common knowledge that few of

the leading firms in Utah will, except under unusual conditions, accept employment from a claimant before the Industrial Commission. Such practice hardly pays its share of office overhead, not to mention a "fair wage."

It seems clear that the legislature's enactment of Section 42-1-81, U.C.A. 1943, and the arbitrary and capricious application thereof by the administrative Industrial Commission materially interferes with and frustrates the courts in the administration of justice and in the control and regulation of their officers pursuant to their exclusive prerogative. It is unconstitutional and void.

Further strong support for this proposition is found in

Ruckenbrod vs. Mullins
102 Utah 548, 144 A.L.R. 839,

hereinbefore referred to. It was there held that "The attorney, because of his position as an officer of the court, can be compelled *by the court* [not the legislature or the executive] to render gratuitous services in the defense of indigents . . ." (Italics added.) The right to compensation for one's labor is a property right.

McGrew vs. Industrial Commission
96 Utah 203, 85 Pac. 2d 608.

Such a right, of course, cannot be taken away without due process of law. The court, in the Ruckenbrod case, points out that the justification for a court order requiring an attorney to defend an indigent without pay lies in the privileges incident to the office, in considera-

tion of which (in effect) the attorney, upon being called to the bar, voluntarily submits himself to the jurisdiction of the court to make such an order. He assumes the burdens with the privileges of the office.

Although commenting that in many states attorneys have saddled upon them most of the common law duties and obligations while many of the common law privileges no longer exist, the court holds that attorneys still enjoy as privileges the exclusive right to set the judicial machinery in motion in behalf of another, the sponsorship of the courts as a person worthy of confidence, the right (in some states) to be free of occupational tax, the right to hold office during good behavior, and freedom from control by the legislature in his official capacity. This court there observed,

“This freedom from control by all except the courts in which they are officers is deemed a privilege.”

We submit that the Ruckenbrod case is controlling here. It is a direct holding that attorneys are exempt from legislative control in their practice of the law. They are subject only to the plenary power of the courts.

Any statute encroaching on that power and infringing the privilege is void.

It is true that courts have, as a matter of inter-departmental comity, sometimes recognized, or adopted and enforced reasonable statutory regulations where they have been in aid of the court's power. This is perhaps analogous to the well known rule that certain aspects of interstate commerce are subject to state regulation

until the Federal government has assumed its exclusive prerogative in the regulated area. It is equally analogous to the equally well known rule that when Congress has taken any action within the regulated field, all previous state regulations immediately determine and have no effect. See

11 Am. Jur. "Commerce" Sections 22 to 24.

Thus the Supreme Court of Massachusetts, in the very recent case of

In re Berkwitz,
80 N.E. 2d 45

held that a statute relating to admission of attorneys to the bar was void because it dealt with subject matter regulated by court rule adopted under the court's exclusive power under the Constitution, even though the statute had, previous to the adoption of the court rule, been accepted by the court as in aid of its jurisdiction.

That is the situation in Utah. Prior to the adoption by this court of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Utah State Bar, the court, without conceding the legislature any plenary right to regulate the conduct of attorneys (See In re Platz, 42 Utah 439, 132 Pac. 390) nevertheless recognized legislative enactments in that field which were *in aid* of the court's jurisdiction. However, it is noteworthy that when the Court, on March 1, 1937, adopted the Rules of Conduct, *it deemed it necessary to incorporate the existing statutes in the Rules themselves*. ...This was done in Rule II. Evidently the Court and the officers serving it recognized that unless so preserved the statutes would cease to be effective from the moment the Court assumed to exercise its authority by rule.

It is also noteworthy that this Court, in adopting the Rules of Professional Conduct, declared that it did so “under the inherent power of the Court to control and supervise the conduct of members of the Utah State Bar.” We think it is also fair to observe that these Rules of Conduct are well loaded with burdens which the attorney assumes, and which should be regarded as more than ample consideration for the privilege for which we here contend.

The Court, in adopting the statutory rules of conduct, did *not* adopt section 42-1-81, under which the Industrial Commission claims jurisdiction. It is to be doubted that the Court could constitutionally so delegate its power to an administrative body, at least without prescribing policies, standards and rules for its guidance, and a procedure according due process and the right to review by the Court. See

16 C.J.S. p. 507, note 62, et seq.

Instead of delegating the supervision of its attorneys in the matter of fees to the Industrial Commission, the Court itself prescribed the principles to govern the fixing of the fee (Rule III, Section 32, paragraph 12.) and provided for the discipline of attorneys who should violate the provisions of the rule.

Rules of Discipline of the Utah State Bar.

In so doing this Court pre-empted the field in which it has inherent and, under the constitution, exclusive power and jurisdiction. Any authority which the legislature and its creature, the Industrial Commission, may have previously had under rules of inter-departmental

comity thereupon immediately ceased and determined. Attorneys' fees in compensation cases, at least since then, have been the subject of open and free agreement between the parties concerned.

This of course does not mean that claimants are at the mercy of unscrupulous attorneys who may exact unconscionable fees from them. It is, we believe, common knowledge that under the Rules of Discipline the State Bar Commission and its committees, as the authorized agency of the Court, has in fact heard and determined all charges made before them of the charging of unfair fees or of over reaching by attorneys. Moreover, in cases of obvious abuse the courts have and exercise summary power to compel their attorneys to refund moneys exacted from their clients.

Re Long

287 N.Y. 449, 40 N.E. 2d 247, 141 A.L.R. 651

Shima v. Shima

139 Fed. 2d 533, 150 A.L.R. 1179

It is submitted that section 42-1-81, U.C.A., 1943, as put into effect and administered by the Industrial Commission interferes with and frustrates the courts and their officers in the performance of their duties and functions, is an unjustified and unwarranted encroachment on the judicial branch of government, and is therefore unconstitutional and void. The order of the Commission in this case of course falls with the statute.

Point II. The statute in question, and the procedure and order of the Commission thereunder are void for violation of Section 1, Amendment XIV of the Constitution of the United States and Article 1, Section 7 of the Constitution of Utah.

At the outset it is perhaps well briefly to call the court's attention to one phase of this aspect of the case which is closely related to the matters discussed under Point I. It is the rule that administrative proceedings conducted under statutory authority do not constitute due process of law unless the procedure and power of decision committed to the administrative body is within the power of the legislature to confer.

Dukich vs. Blair
3 Fed. 2d 302.

This would seem to be elementary. As we have demonstrated in our previous discussion, the power attempted to be exercised by the Commission in this case, as wielded by it, encroaches upon the judicial prerogative, and is not within the power of the legislature to bestow. Its attempted exercise by the Commission therefore deprives plaintiffs, and attorneys generally, of their property without due process, and is unconstitutional and void.

Again, even if it were to be conceded that the legislature under our system may regulate, or delegate the regulation of the fees to be charged by attorneys for their services as officers of the judicial branch (which we do not), the legislature must still prescribe a policy, standard or rule for the Commission's guidance, and cannot vest it with an arbitrary or uncontrolled power with regard thereto, thus permitting an encroachment on the legislative prerogative.

16 C.J.S., p. 349, note 12,
and cases cited.

Statutes purporting to confer such power are invalid for the additional reason that they deny due process of law.

Douglas vs. Noble,
261 U. S. 165.

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