1948

Roy D. Thatcher, LeRoy B. Young and Paul  
Thatcher, Thatcher & Young v. Industrial  
Commission of Utah and Bernice Y. Rosenbaum :  
Brief of Defendant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Statement of Facts as set forth in the Plaintiffs' Brief is substantially in accordance with Defendant's understanding and hence nothing is added thereto.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS INVOLVED

Although the Plaintiffs have set forth their arguments under four points, it appears to us that these points essentially narrow themselves down to two, to wit:

## POINT NO. I.

SECTION 42-1-81, U. C. A., 1943, IS CONSTITUTIONAL AS A PROPER EXERCISE OF LEGISLATIVE POWER.

## POINT NO. II.

THE COMMISSION DID NOT ACT ARBITRARILY OR CAPRICIOUSLY OR IN ABUSE OF ITS DISCRETION IN FIXING A FEE OF THREE HUNDRED SEVENTY-FIVE (\$375.00) DOLLARS.

## ARGUMENTS

## ARGUMENT I.

SECTION 42-1-81, U. C. A., 1943, IS CONSTITUTIONAL AS A PROPER EXERCISE OF LEGISLATIVE POWER.

Section 42-1-81, U. C. A., 1943, reads as follows:

“In all cases coming before the industrial commission in which attorneys have been employed, the commission is vested with full power to regulate and fix the fees of such attorneys.”

Statutes similar to ours above quoted have on numerous occasions been questioned as regards the constitutionality thereof. In every case which we have been able to find

where the constitutionality of such a statute was questioned, it has been held without exception that such statutes are constitutional.

In the case of *Buckler vs. Hilt* (Ind.) 200 N. E. 219, the Court held that the Indiana statute which provided for the fixing of attorneys' fees by the Industrial Board of Indiana was valid and not a denial of due process of law nor a taking of property without just compensation, since it falls within police power. The case further held that such act was not unconstitutional as denying liberty of contract and depriving the attorney of compensation for property without due process of law, nor was it an unconstitutional grant of special privileges or immunities by imposing restrictions upon attorneys practicing before the board differing from those imposed upon attorneys generally.

This Court in the case of *Ellis vs. Industrial Commission*, 91 Utah 432, 64 Pac. (2d) 363, after thorough consideration of the matter and a review of authorities from other jurisdictions, held that the statute in question was valid and that the Industrial Commission of Utah had the authority to fix attorneys' fees in matters under the jurisdiction of that commission.

The ruling in the *Ellis* case was bolstered and reiterated in *re Hatch*, 108 Utah 446, 160 Pac. (2d) 961.

We feel that the rulings in the two cases above cited and previously decided by this Court are in themselves sufficient to sustain the position that the statute is constitutional and valid without further argument or citation of authorities. In order, however, to call the attention of the Court to the

uniformity of the decisions in connection with this matter we quote from the annotation in 69 A. L. R. at Page 1319, which reads as follows:

“Provisions of the act limiting the amounts which attorneys may charge claimants for services in connection with their claims, as, by requiring that such a charge must be approved by the board or commission to which is intrusted the administration of the act, or by a judge, have been held constitutional whenever questioned, upon the ground that they are a valid exercise of the police power, as well as upon other grounds.”

The annotation from which the above quotation is taken and a subsequent annotation in 103 A. L. R., Page 906 et seq. cite and discuss numerous cases upholding the validity of such statutes. No case is cited therein, nor do we find any cases where such statutes have been held unconstitutional.

Counsel for Plaintiff asserts that the act in question contravenes Article V, Section 1 of the Constitution of Utah in that it is an attempt by the legislature to permit the executive or administrative arm of the state to interfere with the State's judiciary. Counsel predicates this argument upon the fact that attorneys are officers of the Court and no one except the Courts of the state would have the right to dictate the terms upon which counsel might act.

We call attention to the case of *Yeiser vs. Dysart*, 267 U. S. 540, 45 Supreme Court 399, 400, 69 Lawyers Edition 775, quoted with approval in *Ellis vs. Industrial Commission*, supra, as follows:

“When we add the considerations that an attorney practises under a license from the State and that the subject-matter is a right created by statute it is obvious that the State may attach such conditions to the license in respect of such matters as it believes to be necessary in order to make it a public good.”

We submit further that, in appearing before the Industrial Commission, which is a quasi judicial body of the State of Utah, that attorneys are officers of the commission and by so appearing subject themselves to the rules and regulations of the commission, and particularly such rules and regulations as have been provided by statute.

In view of the foregoing we submit that the statute in question is constitutional and that the commission acted within its jurisdiction in fixing the attorneys' fees in this matter.

## ARGUMENT II.

THE COMMISSION DID NOT ACT ARBITRARILY OR CAPRICIOUSLY OR IN ABUSE OF ITS DISCRETION IN FIXING A FEE OF THREE HUNDRED SEVENTY-FIVE (\$375.00) DOLLARS.

We find it difficult as attorneys, to argue that the fee allowed by the Industrial Commission in this matter was adequate and in line with the services rendered by the Plaintiffs. If the prevailing opinion in the Ellis case means that the commission can determine the fee merely upon the record in the case and without any independent evidence on the question of the value of the attorneys' services, even where request is made to permit the production of such

evidence, then probably it can be said that the commission had before it sufficient information upon which to act and that there is nothing before this Court from which it could be said that the commission acted arbitrarily and capriciously.

On the other hand, it appears clear that no hearing was had or given to the Plaintiffs on the specific question as to the reasonableness of the fee which should be awarded for the services rendered. There are authorities to the effect that a proper and constitutional administration of a statute such as ours require the opportunity for a hearing on the question as to the reasonableness of attorneys' fees, particularly where such a hearing is requested. See *Shilling vs. Industrial Accident Commission* (Cal.) 190 Pac. 373. See also the opinion of Mr. Justice Wolfe in the Ellis case.

Under all of the circumstances and in the light of the authorities and good reason, we are inclined to feel that the better rule would require the commission to grant to the attorneys an opportunity to be heard on the question of reasonableness of fees in compensation cases. In this respect, in order to be honest with this Court in the presentation of our views to it, we must confess that in our opinion the Industrial Commission abused its authority and discretion in fixing the fees in this case without permitting the Plaintiffs an opportunity to present evidence with regard thereto.

Respectfully submitted,

GROVER A. GILES,  
*Attorney General,*  
ZAR E. HAYES,  
*Assistant Attorney General.*